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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

I. Is satisfying the Morrison test sufficient for the extraterritorial
application of Section 10(b) when the transaction is predominantly
foreign?

II. Is an employee primarily liable under Rule 10b–5(a) and (c) for
inserting, at the insistence of a superior, an allegedly false or
misleading statement into investor materials, even if that employee
could only be secondarily liable under 10b–5(b)?
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Facts in the Record 

Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) is an incredibly successful businessman who 

built a reputation for developing highly competitive and cutting-edge startups 

that challenged industry leaders.  R. 1.  After many years of success in the 

United States, especially in New York, Marconi moved to his ancestral home in 

Sicily and started an Italian wine-and-liquor business with his partner, Benny 

Factor (“Factor”), a highly successful and well-connected senior financial 

executive.  R. 1-2.  Marconi and Factor founded Alcollezione in 2009 to 

compete against the Lampari Group, the dominant international market-leader 

in the wine-and-spirits sector.  R. 1-2.  

Even though Marconi and Factor now both lived and worked in Italy, 

neither was familiar with the intricacies of Italian law and engaged in an 

extensive search for a General Counsel for Alcollezione.  R. 2.  Finally, after a 

series of interviews with numerous candidates, Marconi and Factor hired Ava 

Cato (“Cato”) to be Alcollezione’s General Counsel.  R. 2.  Cato was a young, 

talented Italian lawyer who had recently graduated at the top of her class at 

Sapienza Università di Roma.  R. 2.  Cato structured Alcollezione as a società 

per azioni, an Italian corporation, headquartered in Milan.  R. 2.  While Cato 

was not an expert in the subtleties of Italian beverage quality control 

regulations, she quickly familiarized herself with them and ensured 

Alcollezione was strictly in compliance.  R. 2. 
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Alcollezione soon became a massive commercial success and was 

incredibly profitable.  R. 2.  This profitability led Marconi to expand the 

business to include not just wine, but also limoncello and a variety of fruit 

cream liquors from the South of Italy.  R. 2.  In order to get the capital required 

to scale Alcollezione’s operations and dive into the international market, 

Marconi and Factor took the company public.  R. 3.  Marconi became 

Alcollezione’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Factor became Chief 

Financial Officer (“CFO”), and both remained majority shareholders of 

Alcollezione.  R. 2-3.  Prior to Alcollezione’s 2011 initial public offering (“IPO”), 

the company created an “Investor Relations” section on its website, where it 

posted financial statements, public disclosures, and other investor materials.  

R. 3.  For the convenience of its future shareholders, these materials were 

posted in both Italian and English.  R. 3. 

Alcollezione’s IPO rollout on the Borsa Italiana (the Italian stock 

exchange) was successful.  R. 3.  With their business well-established and 

thriving after the lucrative IPO, Marconi and Factor—as well as an excited 

Cato—briefly returned to New York to spend time with friends and family.  R. 3.  

In a relatively short period of time, Alcollezione’s wines and liquors had become 

incredibly successful in the American market, taking the American youth by 

storm.  R. 3.  While in New York, Marconi, Factor, and Cato went to dinner 

with several of Factor’s old finance friends, who were very interested in 

potentially investing in the company.  R. 3.  Doris Schutt (“Schutt”), an 

investment banker, advised that Alcollezione form a subsidiary in the United 
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States so that it would be better equipped to manage its growing American 

market.  R. 3.  However, Marconi was not interested in running an American 

corporation and declined.  R. 3.  Not to be deterred, Schutt suggested that 

Alcollezione sponsor an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) to access the 

American market.  R. 3.  Marconi again declined and told Schutt that 

Alcollezione would not directly sponsor any ADRs.  R. 3. 

Later in 2016, Slow Company, a business magazine, ran a prominent 

feature on Marconi and Alcollezione.  R. 4.  As a result of the feature, strong 

underlying financials, and macroeconomic tailwinds, Alcollezione’s stock price 

continued to rise on the Borsa Italiana.  R. 4.  Shortly thereafter, Marconi 

received a phone call from Schutt, who informed him that she and a group of 

her hedge fund friends were interested in investing in the growing company.  

R. 4.  While directly investing would be impossible given the portfolio 

restrictions on foreign exchanges, Schutt informed Marconi that she intended 

to set up an unsponsored ADR through Hansen Bank and Trust (“Hansen 

Bank”).  R. 4.  Schutt additionally told Marconi that she merely wanted to 

check with the company first because Factor was a dear friend.  R. 4.  Marconi 

responded that he was, “more of a marketing guy, but any friend of Factor’s 

[was] a friend of [his].”  R.  4.  A few weeks later, Schutt and Hansen Bank filed 

Form F-6 to register the unsponsored ADRs in compliance with the Securities 

Act of 1933.  R. 4.  These ADRs traded over-the-counter and could only be 

purchased by phone through hedge fund managers located solely in New York 

and Connecticut, who worked directly with a Hansen Bank employee.  R. 4. 
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Despite the rising price of Alcollezione’s stock, Marconi met with Cato 

and Factor ahead of the 2017 Annual Shareholders Meeting (the “Annual 

Meeting”) to discuss branching out their business into low-calorie hard seltzers 

in response to consumer trends.  R. 5.  Marconi saw this movement away from 

high-calorie beverages to sparkling seltzers and wanted Alcollezione to adapt to 

the new demand.  R. 5.  As such, he envisioned creating a spiked mineral water 

with all the with all the “bubbly goodness” of Alcollezione’s Prosecco with none 

of the heavy calories.  R. 5.  Factor and Cato instantly took to Marconi’s vision, 

but were unaware of the legal parameters and regulatory restrictions such a 

beverage might involve.  R. 5.  Cato separately informed Marconi that she 

would need to conduct additional research to determine the drink’s compliance 

with Italian beverage regulations.  R. 5.  Cato then immediately engaged in a 

diligent research assessment of the current regulations regarding alcoholic 

sparkling beverages, like hard seltzers.  R. 5. 

However, Marconi independently decided to introduce Frizzantissimo, 

Alcollezione’s new premium spiked mineral water, before consulting with Cato 

again.  R. 5.  Marconi intended Frizzantissimo to be the cornerstone of his 

Annual Meeting presentation to shareholders and investors.  R. 5.  Marconi 

anticipated that the shareholders would require assurances of Frizzantissimo’s 

regulatory compliance, so he looked to Cato to provide them.  R. 5.  However, 

Cato, after conducting extensive research concerning the current regulatory 

landscape, informed Marconi that Frizzantissimo’s compliance “would be an 

uphill climb.”  R. 5.  While Cato truly believed that compliance would be 
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probable in the long-term, it “seemed unlikely in the short-term.”  R. 5.  

Despite Cato’s concern, Marconi refused to curtail his expectations and 

insisted that “these things always find a way of getting resolved.”  R. 5.  He 

further declared, “It is better to ask for forgiveness than permission—and trust 

me, I can handle the PR stuff if there is blowback.”  R. 5.  Cato was still visibly 

skeptical.  R. 5.  Sensing her unease, Marconi assured her that “this sort of 

thing is was perfectly common in business.”  R. 5.  Finally, Marconi gave Cato 

an ultimatum: “Listen, this is happening with or without you.”  R. 5. 

While she was still uneasy with Marconi’s overconfidence, Cato drafted 

the assurances that he so pointedly asked for.  R. 6.  After all, even Cato 

herself only thought that short-term regulatory approval was unlikely, but not 

impossible.  R. 5-6.  Cato’s assurances stated that Frizzantissimo would be 

approved and ready for the market in the second quarter of 2018.  R. 6.  These 

assurances were then condensed into a disclaimer that was inserted into the 

slide deck that Marconi would present to the shareholders, and footnoted in 

Factor’s pro-forma financial statements.  R. 6.  At the Annual Meeting, Marconi 

proudly announced the imminent launch of Frizzantissimo and passed out 

copies of Factor’s pro-forma financial statements along with samples of the 

beverage.  R. 6.  

As a result of the presentation and the announcement of Frizzantissimo, 

the investors at the Annual Meeting and the remaining shareholders were very 

impressed.  R. 6.  Consequently, Alcollezione’s stock and ADRs soared over 

eight percent in after-market trading.  R. 6.  After the Annual Meeting, 
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Marconi’s slide deck and Factor’s pro-forma financial statements were posted, 

as presented, in the Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s website.  R. 6.   

In the months leading up to Frizzantissimo’s proposed release, 

Alcollezione’s stock and unsponsored ADR price continued to rise another 

fourteen percent, with Schutt’s hedge fund investors primarily driving the ADR 

price.  R. 6.  However, on March 14, 2018, Alcollezione was notified that 

Frizzantissimo was not in compliance with Italian quality control regulations.  

R. 6.  All production immediately halted and Alcollezzione’s stock price 

instantly dropped nearly twenty-nine percent.  R. 6.  Similarly, the ADR price 

tumbled nearly twenty-seven percent.  R. 6.  As a result of this catastrophic 

drop, Marconi, Factor, and Cato all agreed to step down from their 

management roles.  R. 6.  At this time, the Italian and European authorities 

have not opened an investigation regarding the matter.  R. 6-7. 

Procedural History 

On September 6, 2018, the hedge fund managers who had purchased 

the ADRs filed suit in the United States District Court of Fordham, alleging 

that Marconi, Factor, and Cato had all violated Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) and Rule 10b–5 promulgated thereunder.  

R. 7; 15 U.S.C. 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5.  Petitioners initially sought $6.1 

million in compensatory damages before settling their claims against 

Alcollezione for an undisclosed amount in September 2018.  R. 7.  Marconi, 

Factor, and Cato then filed separate Rule 12(b)(6) motions on October 17, 

2018, with all three arguing that United States securities laws did not apply to 
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Alcollezione.  R. 7; see Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  Further, Factor and Cato each 

argued that neither of them “made” the statements under Rule 10b–5(b) and 

could not be primarily liable under Rule 10b–5.  R. 7.  

On November 21, 2018, the District Court of Fordham rejected the 

motions in part, holding that Alcollezione had participated in a domestic 

transaction and that Cato served as a disseminator under Rule 10b–5(a) and 

(c).  R. 7.  However, the District Court dismissed the claims against Factor for 

failure to plead sufficient facts of scienter.  R. 7.  Marconi settled with 

Petitioners and Cato sought interlocutory appeal.  R. 7.  The Fourteenth Circuit 

Court of Appeals granted review and reversed the District Court’s holdings on 

both the extraterritorial application of United States securities law and Cato’s 

primary liability as a disseminator under Rule 10b–5.  R. 20-23.  Petitioners 

submitted a petition for a writ of certiorari to this Court, which was granted on 

February 3, 2020.  R. 34. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Even though the predominantly foreign transaction here met the 

Morrison test, extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act is 

inappropriate here because, while the Morrison test is necessary, it is not 

sufficient.  Additionally, both a textual analysis of Rule 10b–5 and the 

principles of judicial economy dictate that the critical line between primary and 

secondary liability remain intact.  The text of Rule 10b–5(a) refers to knowing 

practices, and the text of (c) refers to systemic fraud.  Cato’s behavior does not 
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rise to either level because she could not have known the statement was false, 

and the statement was not a part of a larger pattern of behavior.   

 Further, this Court’s recent decision in Lorenzo v. Securities and 

Exchange Commission should not extend to private plaintiffs dressing up 

secondary liability claims to access the doors of this Court.  However, even if 

Lorenzo does apply, Cato was not the disseminator of the allegedly false or 

misleading statement and is therefore not primarily liable under 10b–5(a) or (c).   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE 
EXTRATERRITORIAL APPLICATION OF SECTION 10(B) IS 
INAPPLICABLE SINCE THE TRANSACTION WAS PREDOMINANTLY 
FOREIGN. 

 
Even though the transaction at issue here met the Morrison test, it is 

predominantly foreign and therefore renders the extraterritorial application of 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act inapplicable in this case.  The Exchange Act 

does not apply even though the Morrison test was met because, while the 

Morrison test is necessary, it is not sufficient to allow extraterritorial 

application.  Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 269-70 (2010). 

 Congressional intent leads the inquiry regarding the extraterritorial reach 

of a federal statute and courts “assume that Congress legislates against the 

backdrop of the presumption against extraterritoriality.”  Equal Emp’t. 

Opportunity Comm’n v. Arabian Am. Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991) (“EEOC”); 

see Morrison, 561 U.S. at 255.  According to longstanding principles of 

American law, congressional legislation is meant to apply only within the 

territorial jurisdiction of the United States unless a contrary intent is 
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stated.  EEOC, 499 U.S. at 248 (quoting Foley Bros., Inc. v. Filardo, 336 U.S. 

281, 285 (1949)).  Therefore, for extraterritorial application, Congress has to 

clearly express its affirmative intention of extraterritorial effect.  Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 255 (quoting EEOC, 499 U.S. at 248).  If not, there is a strong 

presumption that it is “primarily concerned with domestic conditions.”  Id. 

 This Court in Morrison established a transactional test for extraterritorial 

application.  Id. at 269-70.  The Morrison test inquires, “whether the purchase 

or sale is made in the United States, or involves a security listed on a domestic 

exchange.”  Id.  If either prong is met, then the Morrison test is satisfied, and 

extraterritorial application is no longer barred.  Id.  While there is dispute 

regarding the interpretation of the prongs, the Second Circuit held that a 

transaction is considered domestic, “if irrevocable liability [was] incurred or 

title [passed] within the United States.”  Absolute Activist Value Master Fund 

Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 2012).  This interpretation was adopted 

by the court below.  R. 12.  However, as the court below stated, the inquiry 

does not start and end with the Morrison test.  R. 12.  Meeting the Morrison 

test, while necessary to consider extraterritorial application, is not sufficient to 

extend the reach of a domestic statute to predominantly foreign conduct.  

Parkcentral Glob. HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 215 (2d 

Cir. 2014). 

Here, there is a strong presumption against extraterritoriality because 

the language of Section 10(b) does not clearly express Congress’ affirmative 

intention of extraterritorial application with respect to private actions.  See 15 
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U.S.C. § 78j.  Therefore, this Court should apply the Morrison test to determine 

if the facts of this case open the door to extraterritorial application.   

Here, the unsponsored ADRs at issue meet the Morrison test.  Even 

though the ADRs were not listed on a domestic exchange, as they were traded 

over-the-counter, they were purchased by phone via hedge fund managers 

located solely in New York and Connecticut.  R. 4.  This meets the “domestic 

transaction” requirement set by the Second Circuit in Absolute Activist because 

the title transferred in the United States.  677 F.3d at 67.  However, the inquiry 

does not end there.  To force the transaction through the door of 

extraterritoriality, this Court must find that it was not predominantly foreign.   

A. The Plain Language of Morrison and Public Policy Dictate That the 
Transactional Test is Necessary, but Not Sufficient, to Meet the 
Requirement for Extraterritorial Application. 

 
 This Court should reject the erroneous framework applied by the Ninth 

Circuit in Stoyas v. Toshiba, which extends the reach of Section 10(b) beyond 

domestic transactions, by holding the Morrison test to be sufficient.  896 F.3d 

933, 950 (9th Cir. 2018).  Instead, this Court should adopt the framework put 

forward by the Second Circuit in Parkcentral, because it adheres to the 

boundaries set by the strong presumption against extraterritoriality by 

imposing additional requirements.  763 F.3d at 216. 

 The courts can supplement the Morrison test to determine 

extraterritoriality with other requirements because the Morrison court defined 

the test to be a baseline threshold that needs to be crossed and not the only 

one required.  See Morrison, 561 U.S. at 269-70.  In Stoyas, the Ninth Circuit 
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erred by holding that the predominantly foreign test was irrelevant, and that 

the Morrison test alone was enough to extend the reach of a domestic statute, 

holding it to be sufficient.  896 F.3d at 950.  However, this Court in Morrison 

did not explicitly state that this was the only test that needed to be satisfied.  

561 U.S. at 267.  There, this Court stated that Section 10(b) only applies to 

“transactions in securities listed on domestic exchanges, and domestic 

transactions in other securities.”  Id. 

 While a plain reading of the language indicates that this test needs to be 

met for extraterritorial application of the statute, the text does not explicitly 

state that this is the only test.  See 15 U.S.C. § 78j.  Further, in Morrison, this 

Court stated that, “the presumption against extraterritorial application would 

be a craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to its kennel whenever some 

domestic activity is involved in the case.”  561 U.S. at 266.  To read the 

Morrison test to be sufficient would be to ignore the importance of the strong 

presumption against extraterritorial application, and cage the watchdog within 

its kennel. 

 The sole application of the Morrison test would lead to overbroad 

extraterritorial application of Section 10(b), taking away the teeth of the 

presumption against extraterritoriality.  While this threshold may provide more 

predictability, it would also force the courts to extend the reach of a domestic 

statute to cases that have little to no relation with the United States. 

 Further, this would be a burden on, and would interfere with, 

international commerce.  As the court below stated, by letting the securities 
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laws extend to transactions that are predominantly foreign will “discourage 

foreign regulators from pursuing their own investigations, frustrating those 

who have a far more direct connection to and interest in the conduct at issue.”  

R. 16.  The sole application of this low threshold will encourage duplicative 

litigation, interference with international litigation, and would discourage 

future commerce and investment activities in the United States.  See R. 16.  

Therefore, it would frustrate congressional intent and negatively affect 

commerce in the United States.  

 Moreover, Congress reinstated the “conduct-and-effects” test for certain 

actions that are brought by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 

and Department of Justice (“DOJ”).  See generally Sec. and Exch. Comm’n v. 

Scoville, 913 F.3d 1204 (10th Cir. 2019); 15 U.S.C. § 77v(c).  This is illustrative 

of congressional intent to avoid sweeping application of solely the Morrison test.  

Given that the plain text and public policy advocate for supplementing the 

Morrison test with additional requirements to allow extraterritorial application, 

this Court should hold the Morrison test to be necessary, but not sufficient. 

B. The Transaction Here is Predominantly Foreign and Does Not 
Warrant the Extraterritorial Application of Section 10(b). 
 

 Here, while the Morrison test might be met by the unsponsored ADRs, 

the transaction was still predominantly foreign and, therefore, the 

extraterritorial application of the statute is barred.  In Parkcentral, the court 

performed a fact-specific analysis and determined that the elements of a 

transaction were foreign-dominant and thereby barred the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b).  763 F.3d at 216. 
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 Here, like Parkcentral, the transaction is foreign-dominant and therefore 

warrants the preclusion of the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b).  

First, Alcollezione was an Italian company, with Italian residents and nationals 

in management roles, that was headquartered in Milan.  R. 15.  Additionally, 

the statements at issue were only made in Italy, and were directed at existing 

and prospective Italian shareholders.  R. 15.  Even though they were uploaded 

in English as well, that is not necessarily indicative of intent to attract 

American investors because “English is now the global language of business.”1  

Second, the value of the unsponsored ADRs were a product of the foreign stock 

price and existed without the consent or involvement of Alcollezione.  R. 14-15.  

The ADRs were set up by Schutt and Hansen Bank, a United States bank.  

R. 4.  Marconi had told Schutt that Alcollezione would not directly sponsor any 

ADRs.  R. 3.  Extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) has predominantly 

taken place in cases involving sponsored ADRs.  See, e.g., Reese v. Malone, 747 

F.3d 557, 563 (9th Cir. 2014); Freidus v. Barclays Bank PLC, 734 F.3d 132, 

135 (2d Cir. 2013).  Ultimately, Alcollezione only listed its shares on the Borsa 

Italiana, refused to form a United States subsidiary, and declined to sponsor 

any ADRs, making this predominantly foreign.  R. 3. 

 As the court below stated, to allow extraterritorial application here 

“simply because a plaintiff in the United States made a domestic purchase of a 

security that the foreign company had no involvement in whatsoever—would 

 
1 Tsedal Neeley, Global Business Speaks English, HARVARD BUSINESS REVIEW (May 2012), 
https://hbr.org/2012/05/global-business-speaks-english. 
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turn Morrison on its head.”  R. 15.  Although the Morrison test is met here, the 

transaction is predominantly foreign and, therefore, the extraterritorial 

application of Section 10(b) is barred. 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT’S DECISION SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BECAUSE 
PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10B–5 DOES NOT EXTEND TO 
PARTIES LIKE CATO. 

This Court should affirm the decision of the court below because both a 

textual analysis of Rule 10b–5 and the principles of judicial economy dictate 

that the critical line between primary and secondary liability remain intact.  

This Court’s recent decision in Lorenzo v. Securities and Exchange Commission 

should not blur this distinction and extend to private plaintiffs dressing up 

secondary liability claims in order to access the doors of this Court.  139 S. Ct. 

1094, 1101 (2019).  However, even if Lorenzo does apply, Cato was not the 

disseminator of the allegedly false or misleading statements and is therefore 

not primarily liable under 10b–5(a) or (c).  See id. at 1100. 

A. Both Textual Analysis of Rule 10b–5 and Judicial Economy Prevent 
the Expansion of Primary Liability to Actors Otherwise Subject to 
Secondary Liability Like Cato. 

Rule 10b–5 was promulgated by the SEC under Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act to enforce liability for material misstatements or omissions made 

by issuers in connection with the sale or purchase of securities.  15 U.S.C. 

§ 78j.  Rule 10b–5 cannot enforce any liability or create causes of action 

beyond the scope of Section 10(b).  See Stoneridge Inv. Partners v. 

Scientific-Atlanta, 552 U.S. 148, 157 (2008) (citing to Cent. Bank of Denver, N.A. 

v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 177 (1994).  The text of 
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Rule 10b–5 holds any person who “directly or indirectly” engages in the 

conduct prohibited by subsections (a), (b), or (c), liable.  17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5.  

Moreover, (b) can only be used to hold “makers” of material misstatements or 

omissions of fact liable.  17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5(b).  Combined, these two 

phrases—“directly or indirectly” and “make”—encompass the scope of precisely 

who can be liable under Rule 10b–5.  This Court has considered these phrases 

in Central Bank and Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 

respectively.  See generally Central Bank, 511 U.S. 164 (1994); Janus, 564 U.S. 

135 (2011) (holding that the “maker” is the party “with ultimate authority over 

the statement, including its content and whether and how to communicate it”) 

(emphasis in original).  

Specifically, in Central Bank, this Court held that the phrase “directly or 

indirectly” could not be construed to hold aiders and abettors primarily liable.  

511 U.S. at 164.  In response to Central Bank and increasing securities 

litigation, Congress enacted the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act 

(“PSLRA”) and held aiders and abettors secondarily liable under Section 104.  

See Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 158; see also 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).  However, 

Congress only allowed the SEC to prosecute aiders and abettors under the 

PSLRA and did not create a separate, private cause of action.  See Stoneridge, 

552 U.S. at 158.  Moreover, under the PSLRA, substantial assistance equates 

to secondary liability.  15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).  Thus, an aider and abettor can only 

be prosecuted by the SEC under the PSLRA, and a private cause of action 
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under Rule 10b–5 only exists where there is primary liability.  See Stoneridge, 

552 U.S. at 158.  

1. The text of both Rule 10b–5(a) and (c) do not lend themselves 
to primary liability. 

Both Rule 10b–5(a) and (c) do not lend themselves to primary liability in 

the same way Rule 10b–5(b) does and should only be enforceable under 

secondary liability by the SEC.  As this Court once stated, analysis must “begin 

with the text.”  Arlington Cent. Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Murphy, 548 U.S. 291, 

296 (2006).  In analyzing Rule 10b–5, the following four tools of statutory 

interpretation are particularly useful: (1) plain meaning; (2) legislative history; 

(3) expresio unius est exclusio alterius; and (4) the rule against surplusage.  

Plain meaning requires courts to look at the “plain,” commonly-accepted 

definitions and meanings of statutory text, except if such meaning would lead 

to “an absurd result.”  VALERIE C. BRANNON, CONG. RESEARCH SERV., R45153, 

STATUTORY INTERPRETATION: THEORIES, TOOLS, AND TRENDS 57 (2018).   Legislative 

history looks to “clear evidence of congressional intent” to determine how 

Congress intended the statute to apply.  BRANNON, supra at 56.  Expresio unius 

est exclusio alterius, or “the expression of one thing implies the exclusion of 

others,” stands for the idea that when a list is enumerated, any unlisted items 

were intentionally omitted from that list.  BRANNON, supra at 54.  Lastly, the 

rule against surplusage prevents any interpretation that would render a clause 

of a statute or rule “superfluous, void, or insignificant.”  BRANNON, supra at 59 

(quoting Young v. UPS, 135 S. Ct. 1338, 1352 (2015)).  
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Subsection (a) 

 “. . . (a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud . . . .”  17 

C.F.R. 240. 10b–5(a).  In Lorenzo, this Court followed the Webster’s 

International Dictionary definitions of “device,” “scheme,” and “artifice.”  139 

S. Ct. at 1101.  A “device” is that “which is devised, or formed by a design.”  Id. 

(quoting Webster’s International Dictionary, 713 (2d ed. 1934) (Webster’s 

Second)).  A “scheme” is a “project . . .  plan[,] or program of something to be 

done.”  Id. (quoting Webster’s Second, 2234).  An “artifice” is an “artful 

stratagem or trick.”  Id. (quoting Webster’s Second, 157).  As these definitions 

illustrate and the court below aptly noted, “knowing or intentional practices” 

are the target of Rule 10b–5(a).  R. 21 (citing Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1108 

(Thomas, J., dissenting)).  Moreover, this Court has previously reasoned that 

“device, scheme, [and] artifice” each “connote knowing or intentional practices.”  

Aaron v. Sec. and Exch. Comm’n, 446 U.S. 680, 696 (1980).  These practices 

include, but are not limited to, “price rigging, short-selling, and intentional 

‘practice.’”  R. 21 (citing Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1107 (Thomas, J., dissenting)).   

In Lorenzo, this Court found that sending emails Lorenzo knew to 

“contain material untruths” constituted the employment of a “device, scheme, 

or artifice to defraud.”  139 U.S. at 1101.  In Malouf v. Securities and Exchange 

Commission, the Tenth Circuit affirmed the SEC’s finding of a violation under 

Rule 10b–5(a) where Malouf knew a conflict of interest existed and that one of 

the firms he worked for was telling clients that he was independent, yet 
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“dragged his feet” after being directed to disclose the conflict.  933 F.3d 1248, 

1260 (10th Cir. 2019).  

 Here, Cato has not engaged in any knowing or intentional practice like 

Lorenzo or Malouf.  Rather, Cato, a bright but young lawyer, was following the 

orders and urging of Marconi, a seasoned executive with a long track record of 

success.  R. 1, 2, 5.  Moreover, Cato did not make a statement she knew to be 

false, nor did she intend to defraud investors.  When Cato met with Marconi, 

she told him that “compliance with regulations ‘would be an uphill climb’ and 

while possible in the long-term, it ‘seemed unlikely in the short-term.’”  R. 5.  

At no point during her research or subsequent conversation with Marconi, did 

Cato know the regulatory fate of Frizzantissimo.  R. 5.  Cato felt that regulatory 

approval would be difficult to obtain and unlikely in the short-term, but not 

impossible.  R. 5. 

 Cato had no reason to believe that after she had given Marconi her 

assessment, his assurances and optimism were poorly grounded.  Based on 

Marconi’s persistence that “these things always find a way of getting resolved” 

and that “this sort of thing was perfectly common in business,” Cato drafted 

statements consistent with her boss’ directions.  R. 5-6.  Holding Cato liable 

under Rule 10b–5(a) is inconsistent with the text and purpose of this rule.  

 Subsection (c) 

“ . . . (c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person . . . .”  17 

C.F.R. 240.10b–5(c).  At first glance, Rule 10b–5(c) seems like a catch-all 
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provision for those who do not act with the requisite intent under (a), or are not 

“makers” under (b).  However, expresio unius est exlusio alterius and the rule 

against surplusage hold otherwise.  Subsection (c) must be read in light of (b), 

which specifically addresses “any untrue statement” or omission “of a material 

fact.”  17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5(b); see RadLAX Gateway Hotel, LLC v. 

Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) (restating the “cardinal rule that, 

if possible, effect shall be given to every clause and part of a statute”).  In its 

analysis in Lorenzo, this Court recognized that reading (c) to include the 

behavior covered by (b) rendered (b) superfluous and would be “surplusage.”  

139 S. Ct. at 1102.  Still, this Court adopted an overly-broad reading of Rule 

10b–5 that created overlap between all three subsections, based on a fear of 

allowing disseminators with “intent to cheat investors” to “escape liability.”  Id. 

at 1102-03.  However, this interpretation of (c) ignores Congress’ deliberate 

creation of a secondary liability action under the PSLRA, or liability for 

“controlling persons” under the Exchange Act.  See 15 U.S.C. § 77o(b); see also 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(e); see also 15 U.S.C. § 78o(b)(4)(E).  

Moreover, as Justice Thomas noted in his dissent in Lorenzo, the 

majority’s reading of Rule 10b–5 ignores both the text and the canons of 

construction this Court has long applied.  139 S. Ct. at 1108-09 (Thomas, J., 

dissenting).  It glosses over the decidedly different language in each of (a), (b), 

and (c).  See 17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5.  While each subsection targets the same end 

result—defrauding investors—the mechanism covered by each is entirely 

different.  Rule 10b–5(a) deals with the employment of mechanisms to 
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intentionally fraud or deceive, (b) deals with material misstatement or 

omissions of fact, and (c) deals with systemic frauds.  See 17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5 

Merriam-Webster Dictionary defines “act” as “the process of doing 

something,” “practice” as “do or perform often, customarily, or habitually,” and 

“course of business” as “a part of doing regular business.”2  These definitions 

cover a broader class of conduct separate from the “schemes, devices [and] 

artifices” covered by 10b–5(a).  See 17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5.  Similarly, a material 

misstatement or omission covered by 10b–5(b) does not fall under the systemic 

pattern of conduct targeted by 10b–5(c).  If every subsection of Rule 10b–5 

could be construed to cover the same class of conduct, the SEC could have 

promulgated a single, “catch-all” provision.  Instead, it chose to lay out three 

separate ways to violate Rule 10b–5.  Thus, 10b–5(c) should be read to only 

apply to the frauds and deceits not covered by (b), which would prevent (c) from 

including material misstatement or omissions.  Failure to do so blurs the line 

between primary and secondary liability clearly drawn by Janus and “renders 

[it] a dead letter.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1110 (Thomas, J., dissenting). 

Ultimately, the only conduct at issue here is the allegedly material 

misstatements of fact in the slide deck, which can only be actionable under 

Rule 10b–5(b), and not (a) or (c).  Rule 10b–5(a) specifically deals with 

intentional or knowing practices, as held by both the definition of its parts and 

 
2 See ACT, The Merriam-Webster Dictionary.com, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/act (last visited Mar. 1, 2020); see also PRACTICE, The Merriam-
Webster Dictionary.com, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/practice (last visited 
Mar. 1, 2020); see also COURSE OF BUSINESS, The Merriam-Webster Dictionary.com, 
https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/course%20of%20business (last visited Mar. 1, 
2020). 
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application by the courts.  See 17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5(a); see also Lorenzo, 139 

S. Ct. at 1101; see also Malouf, 933 F.3d at 1260.  Here, Cato did not engage in 

any intentional or knowing device, scheme, or artifice to defraud because she 

did not definitively know that the assurances were false.  See R. 5-6.  

Furthermore, Rule 10b–5(c) must be read in light of (b) in order to avoid a 

surplusage that would render (b) superfluous.  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102.   

Cato was not engaged in any fraudulent behavior habitually or as a part of 

doing regular business, and her assurances are not the intended target of Rule 

10b–5(c).  See generally R. 1-6.  The text of both Rule 10b–5(a) and (c), and 

Congress’ specific carve-out of secondary liability to the PSLRA, combine to 

prevent Cato from being primarily liable under Rule 10b–5. 

2. Congressional intent and judicial economy prevent expansion 
of private actions to secondary liability under Rule 10b–5. 

Both congressional intent and judicial economy call for this Court to 

follow its precedent and not expand liability under Rule 10b–5 to actors like 

Cato.  When this Court held that aiders and abettors were not liable in Central 

Bank, Congress responded with the PSLRA.  See Stoneridge, 533 U.S. at 150; 

see also 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).  What Congress did not do, however, was allow 

private parties to pursue an aiding and abetting action under the PSLRA.  See 

15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).  If this Court were to allow Petitioners to bring a claim for 

aiding and abetting against Cato, it would defy congressional intent in 

specifically limiting the scope of these actions in the PSLRA.   

Finally, private securities litigation is at a high-point and expanding 

liability would only increase the number of frivolous suits.  In 2018, there were 



 
 

22 

403 federal court securities class action lawsuits filed, which is approximately 

209 percent higher than the annual average for the twenty years between 1996 

and 2016.3  Recharacterizing secondary liability as primary liability would open 

the floodgates of private securities suits, with investors filing against all 

members of a corporation who could have possibly touched or looked at a 

document containing a material misstatement or omission.   

As Justice Thomas stated, following the Lorenzo majority’s reading would 

result in “virtually any person who assists in the making of a fraudulent 

misstatement [being] primarily liable and thereby subject not only to SEC 

enforcement, but private lawsuits.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1110 (Thomas, J., 

dissenting).  Expanding the scope of private actions under Rule 10b–5 would 

contravene what Congress specifically reserved to the SEC in the PSLRA and 

would flood courts with even more lawsuits.  Congressional intent, judicial 

economy, and pure statutory interpretation all necessitate the prevention of 

private parties bringing secondary liability claims. 

B. Lorenzo is Distinguishable Because It Was an SEC Enforcement 
Action and Should Not Apply to the Narrow Application of the 
Private Cause of Action Doctrine. 

This Court should view Lorenzo narrowly as an SEC enforcement action 

and its application should be restricted to its unique facts and not utilized to 

 
3 2018 is the most recent year for which data is available. See Kevin M. LaCroix, Securities Suit 
Filing Continued at Heightened Pace in 2018, THE D&O DIARY (Jan. 6, 2019), 
https://www.dandodiary.com/2019/01/articles/securities-litigation/securities-suit-filings-
continued-heightened-pace-2018; see, e.g., Brian Lutz, Monica Loseman & Jefferson Bell, 2018 
Year-End Securities Litigation Update, HARVARD LAW SCHOOL FORUM ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
(Mar. 21, 2019), https://corpgov.law.harvard.edu/2019/03/21/2018-year-end-securities-
litigation-update/.   
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expand private causes of action to secondary violators.  Over the past few 

decades, this Court has routinely drawn a firm distinction between primary 

and secondary violators under Rule 10b–5 in determining whether there is an 

implied right of action for private plaintiffs.  See Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191; 

Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 161; Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.  Although Section 10(b) 

does not expressly create a private right of action, this Court has held that a 

private right of action may be implied under certain circumstances.  See 

Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 180; see, e.g., Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, 

Inc., 573 U.S. 258, 267 (2014).  This distinction between primary and 

secondary violators has been further refined over time.  See, e.g., Janus, 564 

U.S. at 143; Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 161; Central Bank, 511 U.S. at 191.  As 

such, these “suits—against entities that contribute ‘substantial assistance’ to 

the making of a statement but do not actually make it—may be brought by the 

SEC . . . but not by private parties.”  Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.   

Even though the “existence of the private right is now settled,” this Court 

has been wary of applying this implied right beyond its “narrow scope” and 

“expand[ing] liability beyond the person or entity that ultimately has authority 

over a false statement.”  Id. at 144.  As this Court noted in Stoneridge, 

“[c]oncerns with the judicial creation of a private cause of action caution 

against [the implied right’s] expansion,” and must be given “narrow 

dimensions.”  552 U.S. at 165-67.  Broadly applying Lorenzo’s holding to 

private causes of action would tear the doctrine away from its “narrow scope” 
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and unfairly expose people who ultimately have no authority over a statement 

to liability from private plaintiffs.  

In this Court’s recent decision in Lorenzo, it held that the dissemination 

of false or misleading statements with intent to defraud, even when the 

disseminator was not the “maker” pursuant to Rule 10b–5(b), can still fall 

within the scope of Rule 10b–5(a) and (c).  139 S. Ct. at 1098-99.  Francis 

Lorenzo was the Vice President of a registered broker-dealer in New York when 

he was hired by an investment banking client to sell $15 million worth of debt 

to prospective investors.  Id. at 1099.  In an earlier public filing, the client 

asserted that its total assets exceeded more than $14 million, including 

intellectual property worth more than $10 million.  Id.  However, the client 

later disclosed to Lorenzo that its intellectual property was actually worthless 

and that its total assets were less than $400,000.  Id.  Shortly thereafter, 

Lorenzo was directed by his boss to send two emails to prospective investors 

describing the debt offering.  Id.  These emails guaranteed the offering to 

“hav[e] ‘[three] layers of protection,’ including $10 million in ‘confirmed assets.’”  

Id.  Lorenzo’s boss “supplied the content [for] and ‘approved’ the messages.”  Id.  

Nevertheless, Lorenzo still signed the emails with his own name, including his 

title and position, and invited the investors to “‘call with any questions.’”  Id.  

The SEC later initiated proceedings against Lorenzo and charged him with 

violating Rule 10b–5 by sending false and misleading statements to investors 

with intent to defraud.  Id.   
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This Court determined that even though Lorenzo did not “make” the 

fraudulent statements pursuant to Rule 10b–5(b), he could still be primarily 

liable under subsections (a) and (c).  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100-01.  As this 

Court noted, “By sending emails he understood to contain material untruths, 

Lorenzo ‘employ[ed]’ a ‘device,’ ‘scheme,’ and ‘artifice to defraud’ within the 

meaning of subsection (a) . . . [and] he ‘engage[d] in a[n] act, practice, or course 

of business’ that ‘operate[d] . . . as a fraud or deceit’ under subsection (c) of the 

Rule.”  Id. at 1101.  However, this Court admitted that the application of these 

provisions covered a wide range of conduct and “[a]pplying them may present 

difficult problems of scope in borderline cases.”  Id. at 1101.  The “[p]urpose, 

precedent, and circumstance could lead to narrowing their reach in other 

contexts.”  Id.  Because Lorenzo sent the fraudulent statements directly to the 

investors, identified himself as the Vice President, and invited them to follow up 

with him directly if they had any questions, this Court held that no such 

carve-out applied.  Id. at 1101.  Therefore, it held Lorenzo, the disseminator of 

the false statements, primarily liable under Rule 10b–5(a) and (c), even if he 

would be secondarily liable under Rule 10b–5(b).  Id. at 1104. 

This Court should not apply Lorenzo in broad strokes to the current case 

because Lorenzo was an SEC enforcement action and should be restricted to its 

unique facts.  The SEC has broad latitude to bring claims against both primary 

and secondary violators.  See id. at 1104; see also Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.  

Thus, the SEC would have been able to assert its claim against Lorenzo under 

either statutory provision.  See 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e).  Similarly, here, the SEC 
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could have initiated either a primary or secondary liability action against Cato; 

however, that was not what happened.  Instead, the hedge fund managers filed 

suit in their private capacity against Alcollezione and its former managers.  

R. 7.  If Lorenzo applies to a private cause of action—not merely an SEC 

enforcement action—then it would essentially allow plaintiffs to bypass the 

“narrow scope” of the implied right and dress up their secondary liability 

claims as primary liability claims.  Thus, it would undoubtedly blur the lines 

between primary and secondary liability and allow private plaintiffs to 

bootstrap primary liability claims to lesser violations.  See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 

at 1110 (Thomas, J., dissenting).  

Thus, due to the distinct differences between Lorenzo and the current 

case, Lorenzo should not control.  It should be left to the discretion of the SEC 

to decide whether to levy charges against Cato who, at best, is merely a pawn 

in Marconi’s grand vision.   

C. Even if Lorenzo Does Apply, Cato Was Not the Disseminator of the 
Allegedly Fraudulent Statements and Should Not Be Held Primarily 
Liable Under Rule 10b–5(a) or (c). 

 
Even if this Court does find that Lorenzo applies, Cato’s involvement in 

the allegedly fraudulent statements does not rise to the level of “dissemination 

of false or misleading statements with intent to defraud.”  See Lorenzo, 139 S. 

Ct. at 1100.  In Lorenzo, this Court concluded that Lorenzo knowingly 

disseminated false or misleading information when he sent investors emails he 

knew, without a doubt, contained “material untruths” and held him primarily 

liable under Rule 10b–5(a) and (c).  Id. at 1101.  That is not the case here. 
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Here, Cato was not the “maker,” nor was she the disseminator, of false or 

misleading statements with intent to defraud.  It is undisputed that Cato was 

not the “maker” of an “untrue statement of a material fact” under Rule 10b–

5(b) because she was not the “person or entity with ultimate authority over the 

statement,” and instead only “prepar[ed] . . . a statement on behalf of another.”  

See Janus, 564 U.S. at 142; R. 22, 32.  “[A]ttribution within a statement or 

implicit from surrounding circumstances is strong evidence that a statement 

was made by—and only by—the party to whom it is attributed.”  Janus, 564 

U.S. at 142.  Cato drafted the assurances at the direct request of Marconi, who 

had express control over when and how the statements would be released.  See 

R. 5-6.  Marconi presented the information directly to the shareholders at the 

Annual Meeting and held himself out to be its origin.  See R. 6.  Thus, the 

court below did not dispute that Cato was not the “maker” of the allegedly 

fraudulent claims.  R. 22, 32. 

Likewise, Cato was also not the disseminator of the allegedly false or 

misleading statements and is therefore not primarily liable under 10b–5(a) or 

(c).  The dictionary definition of disseminate means to “to disperse throughout” 

or to “spread abroad as though sowing seeds.”4  “[M]isrepresentation must be 

attributed to that specific actor at the time of public dissemination, that is, in 

advance of the investment decision.”  Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 

169, 175 (2d Cir. 1998) (holding that an independent auditor was not liable for 

 
4 DISSEMINATE, The Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, https://www.merriam-
webster.com/dictionary/disseminate (last visited February 10, 2020). 
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approving materially false financial statements when the information was not 

attributed to him in any way).  However, “statements containing simple 

economic projections, expressions of optimism, and other puffery are 

insufficient” to be actionable under Section 10(b), but individuals may be 

“liable for misrepresentations of existing facts.”  Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 

300, 315 (2d Cir. 2000).  

Here, unlike in Lorenzo, Cato’s mere assistance in helping draft the 

disclosures was not a “dissemination” of false or misleading statements with 

intent to defraud.  Cato neither conducted a “scheme” or “plan” with intent to 

defraud, nor intended to “trick” them, because expressions of optimism are not 

misrepresentations of existing facts.  See Novak, 216 F.3d at 315; see also 17 

C.F.R. 240.10b–5(a).  Cato honestly believed that short-term regulatory 

approval was “unlikely,” but not impossible, and that long-term approval was 

probable.  R. 5-6.  Lorenzo knew that the information he provided in his 

messages was blatantly incorrect, and he sent the emails anyway.  Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1099.  Moreover, Lorenzo held himself out as accountable for the 

message because he signed his full name, indicated his position within the 

company, and asked the prospective investors to follow up with him directly.  

Id.  However, Cato did not believe that the assurances were “material 

untruths,” nor were the statements attributed directly to her.  See Lorenzo, 139 

S. Ct. at 1101.  While Lorenzo had irrefutable evidence proving that the 

statements were untrue prior to his sending the email, Cato did not have the 

same clarity.  See id. at 1099. 
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Additionally, Cato never indicated her involvement to the shareholders 

and, while her assurances were ultimately disseminated, she did not personally 

“spread” or “disperse” them.  Instead, the message was conveyed directly to the 

shareholders by Marconi.  R. 6.  Marconi, in addition to the being the “maker” 

of the assurances with ultimate authority over its form and content, was the 

one who initially “dispersed” the misleading statements to the shareholders via 

his Annual Meeting presentation.  See DISSEMINATE, supra note 4; R. 5-6.  

Further, there is no indication that Cato had any involvement in posting the 

slide deck and the financial statements to Alcollezione’s website.  See R. 5-6.  

To refer back to an analogy used in both Lorenzo and Janus, “[W]hen a 

speechwriter drafts a speech, the content is entirely within the control of the 

person who delivers it.  And it is the speaker who takes credit—or blame—for 

what is ultimately said.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1098; Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.  

While that analogy was proffered during this Court’s analysis of Rule 10b–5(b), 

it still rings true under Rule 10b–5(a) and (c).  Here, Cato is the speechwriter 

who drafted the “speech” at the direction of Marconi, who later was the one to 

deliver it to the shareholders.  See R. 6.  However, instead of holding Marconi, 

the speaker, accountable, the one punished is Cato, the speechwriter.  This is 

precisely the kind of “borderline case” that Lorenzo cautioned against where 

“purpose, precedent, and circumstance could lead to narrowing [its] reach in 

other contexts.”  See Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101.   

Thus, to apply Lorenzo broadly here, without regard to this carve-out, 

would irreparably blur the line between primary and secondary liability and 
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undermine this Court’s own attempt to preserve Janus as a viable doctrine.  

This Court expressly acknowledged that “Janus would remain relevant (and 

preclude liability) where an individual neither makes nor disseminates false 

information.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103.  This case is exactly what this Court 

predicted in Lorenzo, because Cato is neither the “maker” of the false 

statement, nor is she the “disseminator.”  To not allow the carve-out prescribed 

in Lorenzo to such a clear “borderline case” would truly render Janus a “dead 

letter” and irreparably blur the line between primary and secondary liability.  

See id. at 1110 (Thomas, J., dissenting).  

In conclusion, even though the disclosure Cato drafted was ultimately 

disseminated, she did not personally “spread” or “disperse” the information, 

nor was she attributed to their origin.  R. 5-6.  Therefore, Cato was not the 

maker, nor the disseminator, of the allegedly false or misleading statements 

and instead was just a peripheral actor caught in the nexus of Marconi’s bad 

business behavior.  As such, Cato was not primarily liable under Rule 10b–5. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons Respondent respectfully requests that this 

Court AFFIRM the decision of the Fourteenth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

Dated: March 2, 2020 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
/s/ Team R07 

Counsel for Respondent 
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APPENDIX 

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act: 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means or instrumentality of interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange . . . (b) To use or employ, in 
connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national 
securities exchange or any security not so registered, or any securities-based 
swap agreement any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in 
contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe 
as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of 
investors. 
 
15 U.S.C. § 78j. 

Rule 10b–5: 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 
means of instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange, 
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, 
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or 

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or 
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,  

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 

17 C.F.R. 240.10b–5. 
 


